
Continued on next page 

Kate Brown, Governor 

Oregon Department of State Lands 
775 Summer Street NE, Suite 100 

Salem, OR 97301-1279 
(503) 986-5200

FAX (503) 378-4844 
www.oregon.gov/dsl 

State Land Board 

Kate Brown 
Governor 

Bev Clarno 
Secretary of State 

Tobias Read 
State Treasurer 

STATE LAND BOARD 

February 4, 2020 
10:00 am – 12:00 pm 

Oregon Department of State Lands 
Land Board Room 
775 Summer St NE 

Salem, Oregon 

AGENDA 

Consent Items 

1. Request for approval of the minutes of the December 10, 2019, State Land Board
Meeting.

Action Items 

2. Request for approval of a direct sale of 34.06 acres of subsurface minerals and
geothermal rights located in Tillamook County Township 2 South, Range 10 West,
Section 1. Tax Lots 1000, 1100 and 1200, LAS File #61926. Withdrawn by DSL
1/29/20

3. Proposed Legislative Concepts

Informational Items 

4. Trust-Estates Annual Report

5. ODF Report on Common School Forest Lands

6. Aquatic Resource Management Sustainability Report

7. Common School Fund Audit Summary



State Land Board Meeting Agenda 
February 4, 2020 

Page 2 of 2 

8. Other

Livestream available at: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCQA7FHTWwl-
gjJkQeYPJ1IA 

This meeting will be held in a facility that is accessible for persons with disabilities. If 
you need assistance to participate in this meeting due to a disability, please notify Arin 
Smith at (503) 986-5224 or arin.n.smith@state.or.us at least two working days prior to 
the meeting. 

Visitors are NOT permitted to bring backpacks, bags, or large purses into the DSL 
building prior to, during, or following Land Board meetings. 

Purses, medical bags, and diaper bags are permitted, but may be subject to 
inspection by OSP. 

Public Testimony - The State Land Board places great value on information received 
from the public. The Board accepts both oral and written comments on consent and 
action agenda items only. 

When providing testimony, please: 
• Provide written summaries of lengthy, detailed information
• Recognize that substance, not length, determines the value of testimony or written

information
• Endorse rather than repeat the testimony of others

Written comments may be submitted before or during the meeting for consideration by 
the Board. To speak at the meeting, you must sign in on the sheet provided at the 
information table located near the meeting room's entrance. The standard time limit is 
three minutes for each individual. The Board cannot accept testimony on a topic for 
which a public hearing has been held and the comment period has closed. 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCQA7FHTWwl-gjJkQeYPJ1IA
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCQA7FHTWwl-gjJkQeYPJ1IA


Kate Brown, Governor 

Oregon Department of State Lands 

775 Summer Street NE, Suite 100 

Salem, OR 97301-1279 

(503) 986-5200

FAX (503) 378-4844 

www.oregon.gov/dsl 

State Land Board 

Kate Brown 

Governor 

Bev Clarno 

Secretary of State 

Tobias Read 

State Treasurer

The State Land Board (Land Board or Board) met in regular session 
on December 10, 2019, in the Land Board Room at the Department of State Lands 
(DSL or Department), 775 Summer Street NE, Salem, Oregon. 

Present were: 
Kate Brown Governor 
Bev Clarno Secretary of State 
Tobias Read State Treasurer 

Land Board Assistants 
Jason Miner  Governor’s Office 
Richard Vial  Secretary of State’s Office 
Ryan Mann   State Treasurer’s Office 

Department Staff 
Vicki Walker Bill Ryan Jean Straight Mary French Ken Armstrong 
Arin Smith Anne Friend Lee Hullinger Eric Metz Meliah Masiba 

Department of Justice 
Matt DeVore 

Governor Brown called the meeting to order at 10:02 a.m.  The topics discussed and the results 
of those discussions are listed below.  To view the Land Board (Board) meeting in its entirety, 
please visit our YouTube page:  https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Tj7MikcpRFw&t=9s 

Consent Items 

1. Minutes

Treasurer Read made a motion to approve the minutes for the October 22, 2019, Land
Board meeting.
Secretary Clarno seconded that motion.
The consent item was approved at 10:05 a.m.

Action Items 

2. Elliott State Research Forest Update

Director Walker gave a brief background and overview of the Elliott State Research Forest
(ESRF) concept exploration process.

10:15 a.m.
Director Walker introduced the Dean of the College of Forestry at Oregon State University,
Anthony Davis to speak regarding OSU’s work.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Tj7MikcpRFw&t=9s


 

State Land Board Minutes – December 10, 2019 - Page 2 of 3 

10:41 a.m. 
Troy Rahmig, Project Manager with ICF who is developing the Habitat Conservation Plan 
(HCP) for the Forest, came to the table and gave a presentation on their work. 
 
Troy introduced Kim Kratz with NOAA Fisheries and Paul Henson with U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife. They expressed their agency’s support for the HCP. 
 
Questions and comments were taken from Governor Brown. 
 
 
10:55 a.m. 
Director Walker introduced members of the Elliott State Research Forest Advisory 
Committee, Keith Tymchuk, Bob Sallinger, Paul Beck, Mary Paulson and Asha Aiello.  They 
discussed the committee process and their experiences being a part of it. 

 
Comments were taken from Secretary Clarno. 
 
 
11:22 a.m. 
Director Walker introduced Chief Brainard with the Confederated Tribes of Coos, Lower 
Umpqua, and Siuslaw Indians; and Robert Kenta with the Confederated Tribes of the Siletz 
Indians. They expressed their support for the current direction of the ESRF Committee. 
 
Director Walker made her closing statements, informing the Board that they should expect a 
proposal from OSU in the Fall of 2020 and requested approval from the Board to continue 
the Committee process. 
 
Comments were taken from Treasurer Read. 
 
Governor Brown called a short recess at 11:40 a.m. to reorganize the agenda. 
 
 
 

3.   Request for approval to sell the area of the Stevens Road Tract within the Urban 
Growth Boundary in a brokered transaction.  
12:08 p.m. (Item 4 was discussed before Item 3) 
 
Director Walker gave an overview of the agenda item. She then introduced Mayor Sally 
Russell, Representative Cheri Helt and Senator Tim Knopp (arrived later) so they could give 
their input to the Board.  Carolyn Egan, City of Bend Economic Development Director, joined 
them at the table. 
 
Questions were taken from Governor Brown. 
 

  One public comment was taken. 
 

 
12:34 p.m. 
Director Walker then introduced the brokers involved in the sale of the property to explain     
the sale process. 

 
  Questions were taken from Secretary Clarno. 

 



 

State Land Board Minutes – December 10, 2019 - Page 3 of 3 

Governor Brown made a motion to approve Action Item 3. 
Treasurer Read seconded that motion. 
The Action Item was approved at 12:43 p.m. 
 
 

4. Request for adoption of changes to the administrative rules governing the 
recreational use on state-owned land (Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 141-088-
0210 and 141-088-0220). 
11:52 a.m. 
 
Director Walker gave a brief overview of the proposed rules and the areas affected by them. 
 
 
Governor Brown made a motion to approve Agenda Item 4. 
There were no objections to that motion. 
The Action Item was approved at 11:58 a.m. 

 
   
 Other 
  
 Each member of the Board made comments regarding agenda item 3. 

 
     12:50 p.m. 
     Public comment was taken regarding agenda item 2 
 
  
     Comment was taken from Treasurer Read. 
 
      
 The meeting was adjourned at meeting at 2:11 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
       _____________________________________ 
       Kate Brown, Governor 
 
 
 
       _____________________________________ 
       Vicki L. Walker, Director 



Kate Brown, Governor 

Oregon Department of State Lands 

775 Summer Street NE, Suite 100 

Salem, OR 97301-1279 

(503) 986-5200

FAX (503) 378-4844 

www.oregon.gov/dsl 

State Land Board 

Kate Brown 

Governor 

Bev Clarno 

Secretary of State 

Tobias Read 

State Treasurer 

S t a t e   L a n d   B o a r d 

Regular Meeting 
February 4, 2020 
Agenda Item 3 

SUBJECT 

Request for authorization to proceed with drafting legislative concepts to be submitted 
to the Department of Administrative Services (DAS) for the 2021 Legislative Session. 

ISSUE 

Whether the State Land Board should authorize the Department of State Lands (DSL) 
to proceed with drafting 2021 legislative concepts to submit to DAS for review and 
drafting in preparation for pre-session filing. 

AUTHORITY 

ORS 273.041 directing DSL to exercise all of the administrative functions of the State 
Land Board. 

ORS 171.130 allowing the Governor and DAS to pre-session file certain state agency 
bills. 

BACKGROUND 

The DAS schedule for 2021 legislative concepts requires all agencies to submit 
proposals to DAS for review by April 17, 2020. DAS and the Governor’s Office will 
complete their review by May 29, 2020, and forward approved concepts to Legislative 
Counsel for drafting. By November 13, 2020, agencies must submit draft concepts to 
DAS and the Governor’s Office for final approval. The deadline for pre-session filing is 



Agenda Item 3 
February 4, 2020 

Page 2 of 4 

December 4, 2020. During the legislative concept development period, there are 
multiple opportunities to fine-tune or withdraw any concept, and DSL will continue to 
discuss these concepts with other agencies and stakeholders to refine the concepts in 
response to any input we receive. DSL will provide updates on the legislative concept 
process at Land Board meetings through December 2020. 

PROPOSED LEGISLATIVE CONCEPTS 

Requests from the Director’s Office: 

Elliott State Forest (Placeholder)-  

A placeholder bill in anticipation of legislative or statutory needs to move 
forward on the transfer of the Elliott State Forest to be operated as a research 
forest under the University of Oregon’s College of Forestry. 

Requests from Aquatic Resources Management Program: 

Citation Authority for Removal-Fill Granted to Oregon State Police- 

Currently the only recourse for even minor removal-fill violations is the 
Department administrative process. In certain cases, it could be beneficial to 
allow OSP to issue a citation with a lesser fine to quickly resolve the violation 
while educating the responsible party. OSP citation would allow faster 
processing for both the state and the applicant in potential removal-fill 
violations. DSL sees this as an efficient way to increase compliance with the 
Removal-Fill Law. 

Abandoned and Derelict Vessels and Camping (Placeholder)- 

DSL has recently seen a significant increase in health and safety complaints 
relating to unauthorized use of public lands and waterways. The Department 
has received multiple requests from upland property owners for emergency 
closures of these lands due to the presence of biohazards, trash, and 
personal property being left at camping sites, as well as an increase in 
abandoned and derelict vessels.  
Addressing these unauthorized uses takes intensive cleanup, long- and short-
term storage of personal property, and continued monitoring and enforcement 
of each site to prevent and deter reoccurrence.  Given the emerging nature 
and volume of the adjacent camping issues, DSL currently has neither the 
dedicated staff nor the funding resources to successfully manage the 
workload.  



Agenda Item 3 
February 4, 2020 

Page 3 of 4 

DSL would anticipate an omnibus bill for abandoned and derelict vessels and 
camping issues to include policies that address resources, staffing, statutory 
revisions, and proposed preventative measures.  

Requests from the Unclaimed Property Program: 

UP Transfer Reconciliation (Placeholder)-  

SB454 (2019) directs the Department and the Oregon State Treasury to move 
forward in transferring the Unclaimed Property Program from the Department to 
OST. Both agencies have been working collaboratively to this end and this 
request is in anticipation of statutory changes that might be required to finalize 
this transfer. 

UP Abandoned Property-Payroll- 
Abandoned unpaid wages are reported to the Department three years from the 
date the property owner (the payee) last had contact with the employer (or 
"provided evidence of interest"). The states that are adjacent to Oregon and the 
federal Uniform Unclaimed Property Act of 2016 require that abandoned unpaid 
wages be reported after one year. This discrepancy places an administrative 
burden on employers by requiring them to treat abandoned wages differently for 
Oregon. The Department would like to revise ORS 98.334 to require reporting 
after a one-year dormancy period. A shorter dormancy period deposits 
abandoned wages into the Common School Fund to earn interest while 
expediting return of wages to the property owner. 

UP Abandoned Property- Investment Securities- 

Currently, most states align with the standards found in the federal Uniform 
Unclaimed Property Act of 2016. Oregon law differs, which has led financial 
institutions to report securities that in fact are not unclaimed. The Department 
would like to revise ORS 98.322 to come into alignment with the federal 
standards. 

UP Public Records Exemption- 

The Department would like to keep all information related to an unclaimed 
property audit as exempt from public records disclosure until the audit is 
completed and the findings report is issued. The Department would also like to 
keep claims documentation exempt from public disclosure without the claimant’s 
consent. 



Agenda Item 3 
February 4, 2020 

Page 4 of 4 

The Department holds sensitive information for hundreds of thousands of 
individuals, employers and contractors, from tax and vital records to bank 
account numbers, proprietary information and audit-related data. The 
Department obtains this information during its audit and claim processes. Those 
who submit this information have a reasonable expectation that they are 
submitting it in confidence, and that the Department will protect it. Disclosing this 
information is not in the public interest, as it can expose individuals to fraud; it 
can reduce the Department’s ability to bring companies into compliance with 
unclaimed property statutes; and it can result in less property reported to Oregon 
and fewer people claiming their property.  

The proposed concept would revise ORS 192.355(16) to include audit records 
from being exempted until the audit is completed and claims documentation to be 
exempt from disclosure without the claimant’s consent. 

Requests from the South Slough National Estuarian Research Reserve: 

South Slough Boundary Expansion-  

The South Slough National Estuarine Research Reserve (SSNERR) is currently 
defined as “the South Slough of Coos Bay, from Valino Island southward.” Lands 
acquired by and managed by the Department but located north of Valino Island 
are required to be identified as special stewardship lands. These lands are 
managed by the Reserve team but located outside of the official National 
Estuarine Research Reserve boundary. This distinction prevents the use of 
federal funding for management of these special stewardship lands because they 
are located outside of the designated reserve boundary. 

Amending the language in ORS 273.553 allows all lands managed by the South 
Slough to be included in the official reserve boundary. This would enable the 
reserve to apply for federal funding to support the management of these lands 
and rectify the inconsistent designation of SSNERR lands versus Reserve-
managed lands. 



Kate Brown, Governor 

Oregon Department of State Lands 

775 Summer Street NE, Suite 100 

Salem, OR 97301-1279 

(503) 986-5200

FAX (503) 378-4844 

www.oregon.gov/dsl 

State Land Board 

Kate Brown 

Governor 

Bev Clarno 

Secretary of State 

Tobias Read 

State Treasurer

M  E  M  O  R  A  N  D  U  M 

Date: February 04, 2020 

To: Governor Kate Brown 
Secretary of State Bev Clarno 
State Treasurer Tobias Read 

From: Claudia Ciobanu 
Trust Property Manager 

Subject: Trust Property Unit Report FY 2018 & FY 2019 

The Department of State Land’s Trust Property Division manages the Unclaimed 
Property and Intestate Estate Administration programs. 

UNCLAIMED PROPERTY PROGRAM 

Background: 
State law requires businesses and organizations, called holders, to report and remit 
property to the state when they lose contact with the property owner, usually after a 
period of one to three years.  

Oregon’s unclaimed property statutes date back to 1957. Originally, the law applied only 
to financial institutions, and the state was required to keep property for 25 years. After 
25 years, the property became a permanent part of the state’s assets. Over time, 
statutes changed significantly. Today they apply to every type of industry and include a 
wide variety of property types, from uncashed checks and stocks to unused gift 



Agenda Item 4 
February 4, 2020 

Page 2 of 6 
 

certificates and pre-paid services. Furthermore, unclaimed property1 is now held in 
perpetuity for the rightful owners or their heirs. 
 
On average, the Department receives about $65 million in unclaimed property yearly 
and returns about half of that to owners. The total value of unclaimed property the 
Department holds in trust is $670 million. These funds are held in the Common School 
Fund and invested for the benefit of Oregon’s public education.  
 
Program Activities: 
The Unclaimed Property team efforts fall into several categories: 

- Educating and advising holders on Oregon’s unclaimed property statutes and 
administrative rules; 

- Auditing holders to ensure compliance with unclaimed property statutes; 
- Verifying holder reports and posting them to our website so they can be found by 

property owners; 
- Searching for property owners to reunite them with their funds; and 
- Reviewing, approving and paying owner claims. 

 
Program Highlights: 
Unclaimed property reported to the state continues to grow, and we are returning more 
money to owners every year. 
 
As illustrated in Table 1, the $67.6 million reported as unclaimed property during Fiscal 
Year (FY) 2018 represented a significant increase from FY 2017 – a 17% jump worth 
about $8.5 million. In FY 2019, unclaimed property receipts reached a record of almost 
$70 million.  
 
Claims saw an increase of 7% from FY 2017 to 2018. That accounted for $4.7 million 
more being returned to owners, for a total of $32.5 million. In FY 2019, we returned 
$1.35 million more than in FY 2018. 
 
Table 1 Trust Property Unclaimed Property Receipts (Reported) and Refunds (Claimed) 

Fiscal Year $ Reported $ Claimed 
2018 $67.6 million $32.5 million 
2019 $69.8 million $33.8 million 

 
During the FY 2018-2019 period, staff conducted the following program activities: 

- Hosted 20 free unclaimed property reporting workshops throughout the state and 
online, and conducted additional unclaimed property presentations to business 
professionals. 

 
1 Most property is held as is received; however, contents of safe deposit boxes and stocks of small value are sold, 
and their liquid value is available for owners to claim. 



Agenda Item 4 
February 4, 2020 

Page 3 of 6 
 

- Processed more than 14,000 holder reports.  
- Posted more than one million properties on our website so they can be claimed 

by owners. 
- Conducted 91 audits of Oregon companies that never filed unclaimed property 

and identified about $320,000 in past-due funds. 
- Worked with contract auditors to complete 750 audits, which returned $9.74 

million in unclaimed property to Oregon.  
- Processed more than 19,000 claims in FY 2018 and almost 17,000 claims in FY 

2019. Overall, we released more than 124,000 properties during FY 2018-2019.  
- Our owner-location activities have become more precise. About 20% of our 

claims were initiated because of our team’s research efforts. The total value of 
those claims was about a third of the claims we paid.  

 
The attached charts (Appendix A and B) show the growth of unclaimed property 
receipts and claim payments for the past several years.  
 
Over the last ten years unclaimed property claims have more than doubled, while 
staffing levels remained the same. Furthermore, claims staff dedicate time to work other 
than claims. Garnishment processing, which is statutorily mandated and important to 
our state and local government partners, has increased at a rapid pace and now takes 
approximately 30 percent of unit resources.  
 
The overall increase in claims and garnishments has negatively impacted our statutory 
compliance and customer service levels. Oregon Revised Statute 98.402 directs DSL to 
“respond to unclaimed property claims within 120 days,” or approximately 4 months. At 
the end of 2017, response time was approximately 3 months (89 days); at the end of 
2018, response time neared 4.5 months (136 days), and at the end of 2019, it reached 
7 months (213 days).  
 
We expect claims to increase as more unclaimed property is reported to Oregon. To 
comply with statutes and provide better service levels to our customers, we need 
additional staff. We made an unsuccessful request during the 2019 legislative session, 
and we plan to renew it during the 2020 session. In the meantime, we hired temporary 
help to address the growing workload. 
 
 
INTESTATE ESTATES ADMINISTRATION PROGRAM 
 
Background: 
Under Oregon’s Constitution, the Department is tasked with managing the estates of 
residents who die without a will and without known heirs, called intestate estates. Our 
goal is to find heirs for these estates as soon as possible. Until we do, DSL acts as 
personal representative for the estate and fulfills the fiduciary responsibilities imposed 
by law. The estates we manage range from those of decedents who are destitute to 
those with multi-million-dollar assets. If no heirs come forward in 10 years from date of 
death, the value of the estates permanently escheats to the Common School Fund.  



Agenda Item 4 
February 4, 2020 

Page 4 of 6 
 

 
Millions of dollars pass through the estates program each year and large amounts are 
reunited with rightful heirs found by Department staff.  Without the efforts of the 
Department, the assets of many estates would fall into the hands of those who have no 
legal right to claim them. 
 
Program Activities: 
The Estates team efforts fall into several categories: 

- Educating Oregon businesses of the statutory requirement to notify DSL of any 
individuals who die without a will and known heirs. 

- Inventorying, safeguarding and liquidating assets to preserve the value for the 
estate. 

- Administering assets and satisfying creditors. 
- Searching for heirs directly and by using private genealogy researchers. 
- Validating domestic and international heirship claims by working with the Oregon 

Department of Justice and contracted forensic genealogists. 
- Filing estate taxes. 
- Completing legal process for estate administration. 

 
Program Highlights: 
The Estates team continues to open more cases, locate more heirs and fully administer 
more estates every year. As illustrated in Table 2, during FY 2018, we opened almost 
1,000 cases, which represents a 10% growth from FY 2017. During 2019, we opened a 
record 1,149 cases which corresponds to a 15% increase from FY 2018. 
 
 
Table 2 Trust Property – Estates Case Load 

 
 

Fiscal 
Year 

 
Cases 

Opened 

 
Heirs 
Found 

 
Estates 
Partially 

Administered2 
(Insolvent) 

 

 
Estates Fully 
Administered 

(Solvent) 

2018 980 701 243 36 
2019 1149 779 329 41 

 
During the FY 2018-2019 period, staff conducted the following program activities: 

• Educate landlords, funeral homes, medical examiners, attorneys, judges and 
others concerning the Department’s role in intestate estate cases. 

 
2 Estates administration duties vary depending on each case, funds available and claims against the estate. Some 
cases are referred to Department of Human Services (DHS) to finalize administration if DHS has a significant claim 
on the estate. 



Agenda Item 4 
February 4, 2020 

Page 5 of 6 
 

• Administered more than $5 million in estate assets, managed 23 homes, sold 11 
homes and countless other estate assets, such as cars, guns, coins, household 
goods and artifacts.   

• Paid more than $895,000 to heirs, permanently escheated $355,000 to the 
Common School Fund, and set aside an additional $3.1 million for the 10-year 
hold before the funds can permanently escheat to the state. 

 
 

TRUST PROPERTY GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 
 

1. Make unclaimed property reporting accurate, easy, and fast 

• In September 2019, we implemented a new unclaimed property system, KAPS. 
The system allows unclaimed property holders to upload a data file or manually 
report for free. Additional improvements are planned for 2020 to allow reporters 
to upload supporting documentation and eliminate the need for paper during the 
reporting process. 

• In October 2019, we adopted ACH debit payments, which allows reporters to 
easily remit unclaimed property to Oregon. The payment system is integrated 
with KAPS. This integration reduces the administrative cost of processing check 
payments and reconciling with the reporting system. This has been a great 
customer service improvement for our holders and a time-saving tool for our 
staff. 

• Every year, the team continues to offer free educational seminars around the 
state. In 2019, we offered seminars online to improve access to accurate 
reporting information. The online seminars were very well attended.  

 
2. Make the claim process simple and timely 

• With the adoption of KAPS, claimants have increased functionality that makes 
filing claims easier. Property owners can now file claims and upload all their 
documentation electronically. In addition, the system automatically verifies simple 
claims of less than $2,500. If ownership is validated, claims are approved 
automatically and paid within days.  

• The team continues to analyze internal processes and procedures to identify 
improvements. Staff are continually refining their owner location tools to increase 
accuracy.   

• We hired temporary help to address the current claims workload and will 
continue to request new permanent FTE to meet statutory response timelines 
and Department customer service standards.  

 
3. Businesses find it easy to understand the rules and comply with the law 

• The largest compliance issue is simply that stakeholders are not aware of their 
responsibilities for intestate estates and unclaimed property reporting. Our team 
is looking at outreach efforts and partners to help educate stakeholders to 
increase this category of compliance. 



Agenda Item 4 
February 4, 2020 

Page 6 of 6 
 

• Our increased partnership with contract auditors is returning more unclaimed 
property to Oregon and provides much-needed nationwide education about 
Oregon’s unclaimed property laws and rules.  

 
4. Improvements to Uniform Unclaimed Property Act 

• Holders who report to multiple states want more uniformity in state laws.  During 
the 2018 legislative session, HB 2273 and HB 2274 began to address this issue. 
After public comment, we determined that these needed more consideration. In 
2021, we are putting forward revised legislative concepts to make our law more 
uniform with other states.   
 

5. Intestate situations are reported timely and investigated promptly  

• The team continues to look for more effective outreach methods and 
partnerships to ensure DSL is timely notified when there is a decedent without 
known heirs.   

• In FY 2020, we plan to revise our printed materials and online presence to 
provide tailored information for the program’s many stakeholders.    

• The implementation of KAPS delayed our FY 2019 goal to develop an electronic 
reporting tool that will allow required reporters to report intestate deaths more 
timely and provide more complete information for our team. We plan to complete 
this goal in FY 2020.  

• The reports of intestate cases have roughly doubled every three years since 
2014, and our staffing levels have remained constant. The team has been 
operating at capacity for years. During FY 2020, we will evaluate our staffing 
needs relative to legal requirements and identify options for building capacity. 

 
APPENDICES 
 
A. Unclaimed Property Receipts: FY 2005-2019 
B.  Unclaimed Property Refunds: FY 2005-2019 
C.  Intestate Estate Management Trends: 2014-2019 
  



Unclaimed Property Receipts: FY 2005-2019 

 

 

 

  

 $-

 $10.0

 $20.0

 $30.0

 $40.0

 $50.0

 $60.0

 $70.0

 $80.0

2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020

Unclaimed Property Received
(millions by FY)

Unclaimed Property Received 

Fiscal Year  
(FY) 

$ Reported  
(in millions) 

2005 $             38.4 

2006 $             33.2 

2007 $             45.1 

2008 $             51.8 

2009 $             52.3 

2010 $             52.4 

2011 $             49.3 

2012 $             48.3 

2013 $             52.9 

2014 $             62.8 

2015 $             51.4 

2016 $             68.9 

2017 $             59.1 

2018 $             67.6 

2019 $             69.8 

 



Unclaimed Property Refunds: FY 2005-2019 

 

 

 

 

  

 $-

 $5.0

 $10.0

 $15.0

 $20.0

 $25.0

 $30.0

 $35.0

 $40.0

2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020

Unclaimed Property Claims Paid
(million per FY)

Unclaimed Property Refunds 

Fiscal Year  
(FY)  

Funds Claimed 
(in millions) 

2005  $              10.6  

2006  $                9.0  

2007  $                6.7  

2008  $              11.7  

2009  $              14.6  

2010  $              18.1  

2011  $              19.4  

2012  $              23.2  

2013  $              25.2  

2014  $              23.2  

2015  $              21.9  

2016  $              25.5  

2017  $              27.8  

2018  $              32.5  

2019  $              33.8  

 



Intestate Estate Management Trends: FY 2014-2019  

 

 

.. 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Intestate Estate Cases Opened
(by FY)



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FISCAL YEAR 2019 

  
  

Prepared by the 

Oregon Department 

of Forestry January 2020 

Common School Forest 
Land Annual Report 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

 

Table of Contents 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annual Report Located at: 
http://www.oregon.gov/ODF/Pages/Reports.aspx  

Executive Summary Pg 1 

Financial and Asset Management Pg 3 

Forest Land Management and Planning Pg 7 

Links To More Information Pg 10 

http://www.oregon.gov/ODF/Pages/Reports.aspx


1 

Executive Summary

DATE:         

TO: 

January 21, 2020 

Governor Kate Brown  
Secretary of State Bev Clarno     
State Treasurer Tobias Read  

FROM:   Peter Daugherty, Oregon State Forester  

SUBJECT:  Fiscal Year 2019 Annual Report for Common School Forest Land 

During fiscal year 2019 the Oregon Department of Forestry (ODF) managed 33,005 acres of 
Common School Forest Land (CSFL). As trustee of the CSFL, the State Land Board (SLB) 
oversees management to provide Oregonians the greatest benefit, consistent with resource 
conservation and sound land management strategies. Within this context, these lands are managed 
to maximize revenue to the state’s Common School Fund (CSF) through an agreement among 
ODF, the SLB  and the Department of State Lands (DSL). The DSL 2012 Real Estate Asset 
Management Plan directs that these lands provide a sustained, even flow of timber harvest. ODF 
achieves this mandate through goal-driven forest management plans approved by the Oregon Board 
of Forestry and the SLB. Net revenues generated from CSFL are dedicated to the CSF.  

This agreement and partnership among ODF, DSL and the SLB requires ODF to present an annual 
report regarding the status of management of CSFL. This status report includes information related 
to timber management (volume and value of harvested, sold and planned timber sales), fiscal year 
operating costs, revenue transferred to the CSF, reforestation, intensive management 
accomplishments and costs and other information affecting CSFL management and operations.  

Fiscal Year 2019 Harvest and Revenue 

In 2019, net operating income increased due to increased volume harvested from CSF timber 
sales.  ODF continues stewardship of 33,005 acres of CSFL through active management, 
supervising and administering timber operations, monitoring environmental successes and 
sustaining critical wildlife habitat areas. 

A number of reforestation and replanting projects were completed successfully, and young stand 
management activities continue to actively grow healthy, sustainable forests for future generations 
– providing a range of longer-term natural benefits such as wood products, diverse ecosystems and
habitat, and clean air and water.



2 

 

1. CSFL Harvest Volume:  
a. 4.7 MMBF  
b. 31 percent increase from FY 2018  

 
2. Revenue Transfers to CSF:  

a. $1.9 million  
b. 5 percent decrease from FY 2018  

 
3. Net Operating Income (NOI): NOI is the total revenue received by ODF minus management 

costs.  It is influenced by the same factors that affect volume and value, as well as 
management expenses. 

a. $952,534 
b. 17 percent increase from FY 2018  

 
4. CSFL Management costs: 

a. $1.4 million  
b. 3.5 percent increase from FY 2018  

 
5. CSFL sales sold in FY 2019 (not yet harvested) 

a. 2.9 MMBF  
b. Approximately $492,000 in net timber sale value 

 
Other Forest Management Activities 
Reforestation and young stand management are integral to ensuring a sustainable flow of wood and 
future habitat development. On CSFL in FY 2019, 98 acres were reforested and 398 acres received 
young-stand management treatment, improving overall forest health and future growth. 
 
This annual report summarizes CSFL management activities from July 1, 2018 through June 30, 
2019.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



3 

 

Financial and Asset Management 
 

Overview 

This report primarily focuses on FY 2019 (July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019). However forest 
management often requires evaluating trends in revenue and costs for previous biennia (e.g., sales 
approved in one year’s operating plan may be harvested over one to three subsequent years). 
Revenue transferred to the CSF from management of CSFL has varied over the past 10 years from 
$1.9 million to $11 million annually.  
 
The primary factors influencing revenue fluctuations include: housing starts, lumber prices, harvest 
timing, individual sale volumes and value, changing ratios between harvests on CSFL and Board of 
Forestry lands (BOFL), endangered species act protection measures and uncertainty and constraints 
associated with litigation.  
 
Net Operating Income (NOI)  

NOI for CSFL for FY 2019 was $952,534. Net Operating Income is calculated by subtracting all 
costs from revenue. NOI ranged from $395,017 to $2.9 million for CSFL in the past 5 years (Table 
1). 

 

Table 1: Net Operating Income 

FY2019 $952,534 

FY2018 $816,371 

FY2017 $395,017 

FY2016 $2,935,860 
FY2015 $909,258 

5 Year Average $1,201,808 
 
 

Annual Revenue  

Annual revenue is reported throughout this report, with influencing factors included for context. 
 

Fiscal Year 2019 Revenue and Investment Costs  
During FY 2019, $1.9 million in revenue was transferred to DSL (Table 2). Total charges for 
managing the CSFL totaled $1.4 million during FY 2019 (Table 2). These expenditures include 
State Forests Division personnel in Salem, three regional areas, and seven districts. The units are 
responsible for timber sale contract development and compliance, reforestation and intensive 
management activities, Endangered Species Act compliance, research and monitoring, forest 
planning and overall program administration.  
 
Other charges to the CSF, referred to as “Net Revenue Transfers,” totaled $444,181 in FY 2019 
(Table 3). This is approximately 32 percent of total overall costs. Revenue transfers include a 
prorated portion of ODF’s total costs for capital improvement projects, debt service and seed 
orchard management for reforestation and genetically improved seed.  
 



4 

 

Revenue transfers also include a portion of overall agency administration prorate which totaled 
$427,941. It is ODF’s goal to ensure that allocation of agency administrative costs accurately 
reflects work performed by administrative and managerial staff, and that each program pays their 
appropriate share of administrative costs.  
 
J.E. Schroeder Seed Orchard costs for FY 2019 were $4,544. These funds were used to produce 
genetically improved seed (superior growth, wood quality, and disease tolerant characteristics as 
identified through traditional breeding and selection methods) appropriate for reforesting state 
forestlands.   
 
The ODF Fire Protection Division assessed DSL $482,868 for CSFL wildfire protection. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



5 

 

 
 

 

 

 Table 3: Details of FY 2019 Administrative Transfer Costs 

 Administrative Revenue Transfers Amount 

Administrative Prorate Charge $427,941 
J.E. Schroeder Seed Orchard $4,554 

Residual Equity $316 
Bond Principal  $10,553 

Bond Interest  $817 

ADMINISTRATIVE TRANSFER COSTS TOTAL $444,181 
 

Category FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19
T & E Surveys $299,192 $318,681 $255,732 $84,315 $86,288
Salem Program $693,229 $616,137 $503,060 $205,326 $183,254
Total Salem Expenditures $992,421 $934,818 $758,793 $289,641 $269,542
Total District Expenditures $1,676,363 $1,825,312 $1,612,930 $583,272 $653,170
Administrative Transfers $651,927 $752,033 $733,924 $448,370 $444,470
Total Expenditures + Transfers $3,320,711 $3,512,163 $3,105,647 $1,321,283 $1,367,182

District FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19
Tillamook $132,897 $132,713 $128,778 $182,519 $184,428.21
Astoria $68,236 $65,785 $65,667 $85,919 $109,456.59
Forest Grove $19,133 $18,199 $20,358 $24,237 $37,185.61
West Oregon $292,381 $263,039 $272,127 $317,171 $361,443.13
North Cascade $37,533 $37,466 $37,196 $45,108 $44,683.30
SW Oregon $216,723 $250,521 $234,398 $306,241 $0.00
Coos $2,313,784 $2,547,397 $2,157,530 $96,289 $0.00
Western Lane2 $57,258 $52,009 $70,641 $55,730 $429,292.33
Klamath-Lake $182,766 $145,035 $118,953 $208,069 $200,692.84
Total Expenditures + Transfers $3,320,711 $3,512,163 $3,105,648 $1,321,283 $1,367,182

District FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19
Tillamook $44,188 $24,748 $13,569 $14,823 $127,484
Astoria $62,831 $27,118 $137,300 $307,332 $482,885
Forest Grove $1,399 $3,164 $29,300 $301,498 $322,422
West Oregon $215,338 $931,851 $1,143,029 $896,188 $1,254,904
North Cascade $121,270 $937,821 ($23,149) $5 $262
SW Oregon $33,821 $0 $72,080 $490,844 $0
Coos/Elliott $2,128,342 $4,230,051 $2,547,842 $19,229 $0
Western Lane $1,372,255 $158 $0 $1,100 $83,850
Klamath-Lake $250,525 $292,334 $20,055 $64,931 $47,910
1Revenues Received by ODF $4,229,969 $6,447,245 $3,955,381 $2,137,654 $2,319,717
1Revenues Transferred to DSL $4,246,450 $6,448,023 $3,496,412 $2,001,213 $1,899,423

Expenditures and Transfers

District Expenditures Prorated by Acres

CSL Revenues

Table 2: CSL Revenues and Expenditures

1 There is a difference in revenues received and revenue transferred due to timing of transfers. 
2 Starting FY19 SW Oregon and Coos Districts are being managed out of Western Lane.



6 

 

Table 4: Common School Forest Land Historical Timber Harvest Value, 
Volume and Average Stumpage Price 

Fiscal Years 2010 through 2019 

Fiscal Year 
1 Timber Sales 

Value of Timber 
Removed 

Timber Harvest 
Volume (MMBF) 

Removed 

Average Sold 
Sale Stumpage 

Price/MBF 

2019 $2,057,269  4.671 $170  

2018 $1,534,693  3.573 $476  

2017 Elliott State 
Forest (Coos District) $2,691,137  7.758 $347  

2017 Other CSFL $1,152,934  2.765 $413  

Total 2017 $3,844,071  10.523 $413  
2016 Elliott State 

Forest (Coos District) $3,416,945  7.990 $327  

2016 Other CSFL $2,454,497  6.170 $347  
Total 2016 $5,871,441  14.160 $332  

2015 Elliott State 
Forest (Coos District) $3,592,162  8.260 $436  

2015 Other CSFL $2,367,124  6.990 $356  
Total 2015 $5,959,286  15.250 $375  

2014 Elliott State 
Forest $2,524,725  6.960 $434  

2014 Other CSFL $1,503,429  4.000 $205  
Total 2014 $4,028,154  10.960 $411  

2013 Elliott State 
Forest $1,606,932  4.514 $288  

2013 Other CSFL $1,992,098  6.562 $328  
Total 2013 $3,599,030  11.076 $308  

2012 $12,004,481  32.250 $313  

2011 $11,569,905  32.116 $317  

2010 $8,221,998  24.812 $263  

Last 5 Year Average $3,853,352  9.635 $368  

10 Year Average $5,869,033  15.939 $338  

1 Timber Sale Value is gross timber sale's value before project work credits have been subtracted 

 



7 

 

Forest Land Management  

During FY19 ODF managed 33,005 acres of CSFL (Table 5). 
Activities conducted on CSFL managed by ODF include: 
timber harvest, reforestation and intensive management, and 
road construction and maintenance. These lands are composed 
of four DSL Asset Management Plan forestland classifications: 
General Stewardship, Focused Stewardship, Special Use and 
High Value Conservation Areas.  
 
Timber Management Activities  
A total of 8 active sales were harvested in FY 2019, producing 
1.09 mmbf with a value of $571,049 (Table 7). In addition, 
there were 5 sales sold in FY 2019, producing approximately 
2.89 mmbf (Table 6). 
 
All planned sales on CSFL in FY 2020 are estimated to produce 
7.3 mmbf with a net value of $3 million (Table 8). 
 
Reforestation and intensive management activities such as site 
preparation, planting and thinning are used to promote healthy 
and productive forest land.  Table 9 summarizes planned and 
completed acres and costs for these activities on CSFL.   
 
Table 10 provides information about the road system management on CSFL by District and County. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COUNTY CSFL 
ACRES

BENTON 563
CLACKAMAS 113
CLATSOP 2,060
COLUMBIA 80
COOS 720
CURRY 1,352
DOUGLAS 1,908
JACKSON 1,622
JOSEPHINE 3,961
KLAMATH 6,827
LANE 907
LINCOLN 4,477
LINN 90
MARION 720
POLK 1,690
TILLAMOOK 5,584
WASHINGTON 250
YAMHILL 80

GRAND TOTAL: 33,005

Source: ODF, 09/24/19

Note:  Report is based on legal acres not GIS acres

Table 5: Common School Forest 
Lands Managed by ODF



8 

 

Timber Sales Sold During FY 2019 

 
 
 

Activity Summary for FY 2019 
Table 7. Active Timber Sales on Common School Forest Lands 

Volume and Value, Fiscal Year 2019 

Sale Name District Sale No. %CSFL 
MMBF 

Harvested 
Value 
CSFL 

Woods Way Forest Grove FG-341-2018-T18029-01 34% 0.83 $472,157  
Cole Soap Astoria AT-341-2018-W00618-01 64% 0.01 $6,249  
Powerline Thin West Oregon WO-341-2018-W00671-01 30% 0.24 $92,643  
Cold Boulder West Oregon WO-341-2020-W00776-01 11% 0.00 $0  
Manzanita Women Klamath-Lake KL-341-2019-W00513-01 100% 0.00 $0  
Thin Women West Oregon WO-341-2019-W00667-01 1% 0.00 $0  
Shingle South Thin West Oregon WO-341-2019-W00790-01 1% 0.00 $0  
Sassy Sally Astoria AT-341-2019-W00361-01 .01% 0.00 $0  
        1.09 $571,049 

 
 

         Planned Timber Sales for FY 2020 
 

Table 8:   Annual Operation Plan Timber Sales Planned On CSFL in FY 2020 
 

Sale Name ODF District 
CSFL 

Percent 
of 

Sale 

Timber 
Sale 

Volume 
(MBF) 

CSFL 
Volume 
(MBF) 

CSFL 
Acres 
Regen 

Cut 

CSFL 
Acres 
Partial 

Cut 

Total Sale 
Value 

CSFL 
Project 
Costs 

Net CSFL 
Value 

Hamlet 8 Astoria 9% 1,865  164  0  27  $652,743  $20,973  $36,597  

Beaver Nation Tillamook  52% 1,382  722  55  0  $408,772  $13,562  $199,870  

Cline Miller 
Thin 

West Oregon 4% 1,296  54  0  7  $291,661  $1,827  $10,229  

Green Acres 
Thin 

West Oregon 0% 1,505  3  0  0  $338,571  $66  $556  

Little Thin on 
the Prairie 

West Oregon 100% 1,161  1,161  0  129  $261,131  $40,000  $221,131  

Wolf Junction West Oregon 18% 3,663  675  14  0  $2,106,329  $16,234  $372,165  

Milk Creek Western Lane 100% 4,486  4,486  104  0  $2,242,880  $95,000  $2,147,880  

  Total 15,358  7,264  174  164  $6,302,085 $187,663 $2,988,427 
 

 
               

Sale Name ODF District CSFL % of 
Sale

Total Sale 
Volume 

(Mbf)

CSFL 
Volume 

(Mbf)

CSFL 
Acres 
Partial 

Cut

CSFL 
Acres 

Regen.

Total 
Project 
Costs

CSFL 
Project 
Costs

Net Sale Value 
(BOF + CSFL)

Net CSFL 
Value

Sassy Sally Astoria 0.01% 4,814 0.48 0.01 0.01 $312,913 $31.29 $1,382,697 $138 
Manzanita Woman Klamath-Lake 100% 2,678 2,678 312.5 25.6 $41,419 $41,419 $418,804 $418,804 
Cold Boulder West Oregon 11% 1,709 183 0.0 9.6 $50,610 $5,430 $615,359 $66,028 
Thin Women West Oregon 1% 1,990 13 0.9 0.4 $54,001 $356 $338,005 $2,231 
Shingle South Thin West Oregon 1% 1,301 16 2.4 0.0 $30,751 $381 $403,666 $5,005 

 Totals 12,492 2,891 316 36 $489,694 $47,619 $3,158,532 $492,207

Table 6. Common School Forest Lands Timber Sales Sold in Fiscal Year 2019

All dollar amounts are rounded to the nearest whole dollar.



9 

 

                 Reforestation and Intensive Management 
Table 9:  Intensive Management Activities On CSFL -  FY 2019 

Management Activity Acres 
Planned 

Acres 
Completed Total Cost 

Initial Planting* 99  98 $31,387  
Interplanting 4  0  $0  
Invasive Plant Control 4  0  $0  
Precommercial Thinning** 25  44  $3,490  
Pruning 0  0  $0  
Release-Chemical- Aerial 0  0  $0  
Release-Chemical-Hand** 117  9  $1,622  
Release-Mechanical-Hand** 10  41  $8,453  
Site Prep –Mechanical 9  10  $3,231  
Site Prep -Slash Burning 9  0  $2,690  
Site Prep-Chemical- Aerial 13  13  $643  
Site Prep-Chemical- Hand 44  44  $3,004  
Surveys - Invasive Plants 0  0  $0  
Surveys – Reforestation 55  125  $1,288  
Tree Protection-Barriers** 5  14  $5,058  
Tree Protection-Direct Control 44  0  $0  
Underplanting* 0  0  $0  

Total 438  398 $60,866 
 
*Planting costs include all costs including seedlings & seed. 
**Some districts used inmate labor.  Inmate crew costs are covered in this table.  

 
 

Road Management Activities 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bridge Fish Pipes

Constructed Improved Vacated Constructed Improved Vacated Installed Installed
Astoria-Clatsop 0.00 2.60 0 0 0 0 0 0

Forest Grove-Tillamook 0.46 0.19 0 0 0 0 0 0

North Cascade-Linn 0.94 14.28 0 0 0 0 0 0
North Cascade-Marion 1.87 11.21 0 0 0 0 0 0
West Oregon-Lincoln 0.00 1.10 0 0.3 0 0 0 0

Totals 3.3 29.4 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Aggregate/Paved Surface (miles) Dirt Surface (miles)

Table 10:  FY 2019 Annual Road Work – CSFL

District  & County



10 

 

Links To More Information  
 

Stand Level Inventory  
Forest Inventory Report covers the fiscal year-end stand level inventory estimates on Board of 
Forestry and Common School Land for each district.  
 

Stream and Watershed Restoration 
Restoration reports summarize all restoration activity reported to OWEB by State Forest Districts 
since 1995.   
 

Forest Health 
 Aerial Survey Summary Reports by ODF Area 
 Forest Health Highlights Report -Joint Publications of Oregon Department of Forestry and 

USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Region 

http://www.oregon.gov/ODF/Documents/WorkingForests/StandLevelInventoryAnnualReport2018.pdf
http://www.oregon.gov/ODF/Documents/WorkingForests/StateForestRestorationReports1995-2018.pdf
http://www.oregon.gov/ODF/ForestBenefits/Pages/ForestHealth.aspx
https://www.fs.usda.gov/detail/r6/forest-grasslandhealth/insects-diseases/?cid=fsbdev2_027203


 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Kate Brown, Governor 

Oregon Department of State Lands 

775 Summer Street NE, Suite 100 

Salem, OR 97301-1279 

(503) 986-5200 

FAX (503) 378-4844 

www.oregon.gov/dsl 

 

 State Land Board 

 

Kate Brown 

Governor 

 

Bev Clarno 

Secretary of State 

 

Tobias Read 

State Treasurer 

 
 
 

 
 
 

M  E  M  O  R  A  N  D  U  M 
 
 
 
 
Date:  February 4, 2020 
 
 
To: Governor Kate Brown  
 Secretary of State Bev Clarno 
 State Treasurer Tobias Read 
 
From: Vicki L. Walker, Director 
 Department of State Lands 
 
 
Subject: Aquatic Resource Management Sustainable Funding Status Report 
 
 
Executive Summary: The Department of State Lands continually seeks opportunities 
to increase revenue to the Common School Fund by examining program operations. 
Analysis of the Department’s Aquatic Resource Management (ARM) program fee 
structure was conducted as a critical first step in achieving sustainable program funding.   
 
Study of removal-fill permit and waterway lease rates and fees determined that ARM 
charges for service do not consistently cover operating expenses. Additionally, the 
extreme cost of waterway cleanups such as the $12.2 million Goble cleanup, as well as 
addressing the growing issue of illegal camping on public waterways, are an 
unpredictable and significant expense. 
 
The studies identified the need to gather additional data, as well as to further evaluate 
and prioritize key issues and potential actions. When that work is complete, DSL intends 
to begin engaging stakeholders to further explore sustainable funding solutions for the 
ARM program.   
 



Agenda Item 6 
February 4, 2020 

Page 2 of 4 

Introduction: The Aquatic Resource Management (ARM) program protects Oregon’s 
waters and wetlands by administering the state’s removal-fill and wetlands conservation 
laws and protecting public use and enjoyment of publicly owned waterways. 
 
The program generates revenue by collecting fees for:  
 

• Authorizations and leases for use of waterways. Whenever private users restrict 
public access to the publicly owned beds and banks of waterways, the public is 
compensated for loss of that use. Commercial marinas and residential floating 
homes are examples of activities that require a lease. The ARM’s proprietary 
waterway program oversees waterway operations.  
 

• Removal-fill permits for removal or fill activities in waterways and wetlands, as 
well as wetland delineations. The ARM program’s removal-fill program oversees 
permitting and delineations.  

 
When program revenue does not exceed operating expenses, Common School Fund 
earnings revenue is used. The Department’s 2017-2021 Strategic Plan identifies 
maintaining a sustainable financial structure for the ARM program as a primary 
objective. To support exploration of a sustainable funding model, studies of waterway 
leasing rates and removal-fill permit rates were conducted.  
 
Waterway Leasing Rate Study1: In 2018, an in-depth study of the Department’s 
waterway leasing rates was conducted using the framework of equity, administrative 
and economic efficiency, and whether current rents were achieving market rates. The 
study determined:  
 
Waterway revenue covers the proprietary program’s typical operating expenses. FY16-
18 data indicates the program is currently covering expenses. The program has 
generated approximately $2.3 million in revenue above expenses on a three-year 
average, if episodic expenses are excluded. 
 
Episodic expenses associated with waterway cleanups, abandoned and derelict 
vessels, and illegal camping affect the program’s ability to consistently cover expenses. 
If the costs related to derelict vessels and the Portland Harbor Superfund site are 
included, the program recovered approximately 41 percent of operating costs in FY16 - 
FY18. 
 
Episodic expenses add complexity and uncertainty to attempts to forecast a sustainable 
funding model for the ARM. Additionally, historical financial data does not exist for cost 
of addressing the emerging issue of illegal camping on public waterways. Further 
analysis is needed to determine potential budget impacts of illegal camping.  
 
Report recommendations included:  

 
1 Oregon Department of State Lands. (2018). Waterway Leasing Rate Study. (pg. 1–36). 



Agenda Item 6 
February 4, 2020 

Page 3 of 4 

- Equity among lessees will improve, and market rates will be better captured, by 
use of real market value rather than assessed value in the Department’s method 
for determining riparian land values.  

- Economic and administrative efficiency can be improved by phasing out use of 
the percent of gross receipts rate category.  

- Economic efficiency and rent equity can be improved by discontinuing use of a 
statewide flat rate. 

- Reforms in the current waterway insurance requirements should be explored. 
Current insurance requirements were found to be insufficient in covering the 
liability of the approximately $12.2 million Goble cleanup in 2018.  

 
Recommendations from the Waterway Leasing Rate Study will help to generate 
additional revenue. However, rate adjustments from rulemaking efforts will occur only 
on new leases or at lease renewal, leaving years before the full effects are seen in the 
program’s operating budget.  
 
Removal-Fill Rate and Fee Study2: In 2019, an in-depth study of the removal-fill 
program fee and rate structure was conducted through the framework of equity and 
administrative and economic efficiency. The study determined:   
 
Program revenue does not cover the removal-fill program’s operating expenses.   
FY08 – FY18 data indicates the program is covering approximately 20 percent of its 
operating expenses with charges for service annually.  
 
Operating expenses have remained relatively consistent, indicating fees and rates have 
long been insufficient to cover costs. Personnel costs, typically a program’s largest 
expense, have risen minimally from FY08 - FY18, increasing less than 1 percent per 
year and only $135,604 in that decade. Since 1989, the Oregon Legislature has only 
minimally increased the removal-fill rates and fees.   
  
The current volume-based rate structure is administratively and economically inefficient, 
and inequitable. The current maximum fee of $1,292 does not cover the costs to review 
complex projects which can take hundreds or even thousands of staff hours to 
complete.  
 
Report recommendations included:  

- Further exploration is needed of a new rate structure that captures the cost of 
delivering service, project complexity in review of permits, and meets program 
goals. The current rate structure is not connected to the staff time required to 
evaluate a permit application and make a permitting determination. The current 
volume-based system does not capture the complexity of a project, 
environmental impacts, market forces, project type, public need, or geographic 
location. 

 
2 Oregon Department of State Lands. (2019). Removal-Fill Rate and Fee Study. (pp. 1–57). 



Agenda Item 6 
February 4, 2020 

Page 4 of 4 

- Any potential new rate structure should reduce inequity within the current 
structure and avoid creating additional inequity. For example, simply increasing 
the current fee structure would disproportionately affect single-family residential 
development.  

- Cost of delivering service has not yet been sufficiently quantified. Additional data 
must be gathered to inform future rate and fee discussions.  

- New charges for service should be explored. New fees would help to generate 
additional revenue and offset increase needed for permitting cost recovery. 

 

Conclusion: The current ARM program charges for service do not cover operating 
expenses. Without changes to the removal-fill and proprietary program fee structures, 
the Common School Fund will continue to fund a portion of ARM program operating 
costs unless another dedicated funding source is identified.     
 
 
Next Steps: 

• The Department is evaluating report recommendations to identify key 
issues and determine potential actions and priorities.  

• Additional consideration is being given to development of a new removal-
fill rate structure that covers the cost of delivering service and meets the 
Department’s goal of increasing revenue to the Common School Fund. 
Additional data is needed to support this work, and staff is assessing 
options for data gathering.   

• When DSL has a more complete picture of potential actions, stakeholders 
will be engaged to discuss key issues and identify solutions. 

• Should the identified solutions require legislative action, DSL will explore 
development of a legislative concept in the 2023 session.   

 











































































 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
November 25, 2019 
 
To the Director and Management 
State of Oregon, Department of State Lands 
Salem, Oregon   
 
We have audited the financial statements of the Common School Fund of the State of Oregon 
Department of State Lands, major governmental fund of the State of Oregon (the Common 
School Fund) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and have issued our report thereon 
dated November 25, 2019. Professional standards require that we advise you of the following 
matters relating to our audit. 
 
Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit 
 
As communicated in our engagement letter dated June 24, 2019, our responsibility, as described 
by professional standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial 
statements that have been prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in 
all material respects, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of 
your respective responsibilities. 
 
Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to 
obtain reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
of material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal 
control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered 
the internal control of Common School Fund solely for the purpose of determining our audit 
procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal control. 
 
We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our 
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting 
process. However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other 
matters to communicate to you.  
 
Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit 
 
We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously 
communicated to you. 
 
 
 



 

 
2 

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence 
 
The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and our network firms have 
complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding independence. 
 
Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices 
 
Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary 
of the significant accounting policies adopted by Common School Fund is included in Note 1 to 
the financial statements. There have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no 
changes in significant accounting policies or their application during fiscal year 2019. No matters 
have come to our attention that would require us, under professional standards, to inform you 
about (1) the methods used to account for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of 
significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of 
authoritative guidance or consensus.  
 
Significant Accounting Estimates 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management 
and are based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on 
knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. 
Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the 
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
markedly from management’s current judgments. 
 
The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the financial statements are the estimate of the 
unclaimed property that will be distributed and the estimate of allowance for doubtful accounts. 

 
Management’s estimate of the unclaimed property that will be distributed is based on 
historical collections.  

 
Management’s estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts is based on a 
percentage of total receivables. 

 
We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates and determined 
that they are reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole and in 
relation to the applicable opinion units. 
 
Financial Statement Disclosures  
 
Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive 
because of their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures 
affecting Common School Fund’s financial statements relate to:  
 

The disclosure of Deposits and Investments and Derivatives in Notes 2 & 3 to the 
financial statements summarize the valuations for the year ended June 30, 2019. 



 

 
3 

 
The disclosure of Custodial Liabilities in Note 4C to the financial statements 
summarizes the custodial liabilities for unclaimed property for the year ended June 30, 
2019. 
 
The disclosure for Contingencies in Note 12 to the financial statements summarizes the 
contingencies for the year ended June 30, 2019. 

 
Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the 
performance of the audit. 
 
Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements 
 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified 
during the audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level 
of management. No misstatements were noted during the audit.  
 
Disagreements with Management 
 
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a 
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, 
or auditing matter, which could be significant to Common School Fund’s financial statements or 
the auditor’s report. No such disagreements arose during the course of the audit. 
 
Representations Requested from Management 
 
We have requested certain written representations from management, in a separate letter dated 
November 25, 2019. 
 
Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no 
consultations with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters. 
 
Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues 
 
In the normal course of our professional association with Common School Fund, we generally 
discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, operating and regulatory conditions affecting the entity, and operational plans and 
strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed 
resulted in a condition to our retention as Common School Fund’s auditors. 
 
 
 
 



 

 
4 

Other Matters 

 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the State Lands Board, the Director, 
Oregon Secretary of State Audits Division, and management of Common School Fund and is not 
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
If you should have any questions or comments, we would be pleased to discuss this report with 
you at your convenience. 
 
Respectfully, 
 

 
Merina+Co 
Certified Public Accountants and Consultants 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Kate Brown, Governor 

Oregon Department of State Lands 

775 Summer Street NE, Suite 100 

Salem, OR 97301-1279 

(503) 986-5200 

FAX (503) 378-4844 

www.oregon.gov/dsl 

 

 State Land Board 

 

Kate Brown 

Governor 

 

Bev Clarno 

Secretary of State 

 

Tobias Read 

State Treasurer 

 
 
 
 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 
Date: February 4, 2020 
 
 
To: Governor Kate Brown  
 Secretary of State Bev Clarno 
 State Treasurer Tobias Read 
 
From: Vicki L. Walker 
 Director 
 
Subject: South Slough Reserve’s Forest and Fire Management Project 
 
Background Information 
Since the fall of 2019, the South Slough Reserve has been undertaking an exciting 
multi-benefit forestry project at its visitor center. This update provides a summary of the 
key accomplishments to date and explains how the project is enhancing education 
opportunities at the reserve. 
 
The Visitor Center was constructed in the mid-1980s on cleared forest land at the top of 
a ridge overlooking the South Slough estuary. The forest surrounding the Visitor Center 
was never thinned; it grew back incredibly dense and tall and eventually blocked the 
view from the observation deck to the water.  
 
In spring of 2018, the Reserve received a grant of $137,000 from the National Oceanic 
and Atmospheric Administration for improvements at the Visitor Center, which included: 
 

• replacing the observation deck,  
• forestry work to re-establish a view corridor from the observation deck to the 

slough,  
• renovating the gutter system on the building, and  
• installing a demonstration raingarden to capture rainwater runoff and provide 

interpretive information on ecologically and culturally significant native plants. 



 
 

Page 2 of 4 

Dr. Alice Yeates (PhD) was hired as the Reserve’s stewardship coordinator in the 
summer of 2019. As the project lead, she has contributed invaluable expertise and 
experience in forest ecology, science education, and collaborative project management. 
 
With input from a technical advisory group, Dr. Yeates developed a comprehensive 
Forest Enhancement Plan that expanded the project focus to reduce fire risk, improve 
forest health, increase wildlife habitat, and enhance education and outreach 
opportunities. The advisory team included representatives from OSU extension, Oregon 
Department of Forestry (ODF), Bureau of Land Management (BLM), Department of 
State Lands (DSL) and Coos Watershed Association. 
 
The Plan was approved by the South Slough Reserve Management Commission in 
August 2019. 
 
During the planning process, Dr. Yeates coordinated site visits with the advisory team to 
complete fire assessments and develop a plan to reduce fire risk.  After implementation 
commenced, two representatives from OSU Forestry and Natural Resources Extension 
conducted an additional site visit to reassess fire risk after the first phase of work was 
completed; they identified additional management actions to further protect the building 
and surrounding areas.   
 
 
Forest Enhancement Project and Raingarden Project work began in November 2019 
and included the following:  
 
Reserve staff worked with the Coos Forest Protective Association (CFPA) and a local 
tree service to thin a 0.75-acre area of dense regrowth forest within a 200-foot radius of 
the South Slough Reserve’s visitor center. The CFPA work crews pruned lower tree 
limbs, removed dead Port-Orford-cedar trees, and thinned the dense understory shrubs 
and trees.  
 
The Department of State Lands believes these fire prevention activities are an excellent 
example of the work envisioned by Senate Bill 1536, a bill introduced by Governor 
Brown in the 2020 Session.  Among many objectives, SB 1536 hopes to reduce wildfire 
risks by demonstrating defensible space on public and private lands.  South Slough 
Reserve is proud to showcase how fire and landscape mitigation on public land can 
meet those objectives.   
 
In addition to reducing fire risk, these thinning activities will promote diversity and 
habitat complexity, and benefit a myriad of animals including songbirds, bats and insect 
pollinators.  
 
Through partnership and creative thinking, the Reserve was able to expand the positive 
impacts of this project by donating and utilizing many of the felled trees.  
 



 
 

Page 3 of 4 

• 120 logs of approximately 10 ft. in length were equally divided between the 
Coquille Indian Tribe and the Confederated Tribes of the Coos, Lower Umpqua 
and Siuslaw Indian (CTCLUSI) for cultural use. Attached is a letter from the 
CTCLUSI about this donation.  

 
• Additional Port-Orford-cedar logs were split on site and staff are constructing 

benches to be installed along the trails. Remaining logs are being milled at a 
local sawmill and will be used in education programs for building wildlife boxes.  
 

• Western hemlock and Sitka spruce logs will be used in an upcoming stream 
restoration project.  
 

• The Reserve made efforts to donate firewood from the removed Douglas fir trees 
to Oregon Coast Community Action for its energy assistance program, but it was 
not possible at this time. Future forestry projects will work towards this.  
 

The demonstration raingarden was completed by Reserve staff and volunteers in 
January 2020 and enriched with a diversity of native pollinator food plants and culturally 
important plants donated by CTCLUSI. The garden incorporates an ADA-accessible 
path for all visitors to access the observation deck and will include interpretive signage 
and bench seating. 
 
 
Education and Outreach 
Staff at the South Slough Reserve recognize that clear communication is an important 
element of any land management activity. For this project, staff obtained approval from 
the local tribes and the Reserve management commission, conducted public site tours 
and presentations, and created interpretive signage to help visitors understand the 
forestry work and visualize the project objectives.  
 
The project also created a large gathering area along the trail for school groups and 
community programs. The area will be enhanced with native flowering shrubs and 
wildlife boxes. Reserve staff are working with local tribes to incorporate culturally 
significant plants and develop education materials. Participants of the Reserve’s 
inaugural Second Saturday Stewards program will plant shrubs and install wildlife boxes 
on February 8, 2020. 
 
The project area will serve as a demonstration site for workshops and community 
classes to educate the public on how to reduce fire risk on their own property. Reserve 
staff are currently working with Oregon State University Extension agents to host a 
spring workshop focused on creating defensible space for reducing risk of wildfire. 
Outreach opportunities the Reserve plans to complete in the future will educate others 
on how to promote these important tasks in reducing wildfire risk and being good 
stewards of the land. 
 



 
 

Page 4 of 4 

After many years of dense forests enclosing the Visitor Center, Reserve visitors are now 
able to view the South Slough estuary and obtain a sense of connection with the 
surrounding watershed. Through these efforts the area has been, and will continue to 
be, enhanced to benefit all those that belong to the South Slough community in a way 
that promotes an increased understanding of its ecology and cultural importance, and 
the benefits of managing our land in a multifaceted and inclusive manner.     
 
 
   
 



CONFEDERATED TRIBES OF
cooso LowER UMPQUA & STUSLAW INDIANS

TRIBAL GOVERNMENT OFFICES

1245 Fulton Avenue o Coos Bay, OR 97420
(541) SSS-9577 o1-888-280-0726 o General Office Fax (541) 888-2853

Ms. Vicki Walker, Director
Oregon Department of State Lands
775 Summer St. NE
Salem, Oregon 97301-1279

Thursday, January 23, 2020

Dear Ms. Walker,

The Confederated Tribes of the Coos, Lower Umpqua, and Siuslaw Indians (Tribe) would like to extend their

utmost luuwii (thanks) to the Department of State Lands (DSL) and the South Slough National Estuarine

Research Reserve (SSNERR) for their continued partnership in protecting the Tribe's cultural resources and

traditional cultural practices on ancestral lands that are now managed by DSL. Recently, SSNERR donated

some port Orford cedar (Chamaecyparis lawsoniana) logs (l6leml in the Hanis Coos language) that were being

removed from the SSNERR's Visitor Center to the Tribe. These donated logs will be used in many upcoming

cultural activities, from paddle and cedar box making to plank splitting and carving demonstrations. Cedar,

much like salmon, is the life-blood of our culture; it provides us with medicine, clothing, housing, and

transportation. Without cedar, we wouldn't be who we are as Tribal people.

As inherent stewards of these lands and waters of Coos Bay, we appreciate the SSNERR for respecting orr
cultural lifeways and allowing us to continue to gather and manage culturally significant resources on these

lands for our cultural and ceremonial purposes. We are so blessed to be able to continue our traditions in the

same places our ancestors have for millennia. We are also so very grateful to be able to collaborate on the

various projects that are being implemented in the South Slough of Coos Bay; thus perpetuating our role as

cultural stewards. From water quality monitoring to cultural tours in our traditional cedar dugout canoes, we

thoroughly enjoy our many adventures together and look forward to the ones that ate yet to come.

So, again, luuwii for the gift of cedar!

Gr,lre de Luwe (With a Good Heart),

cc (via email): Alice Yeates, SSNERR Stewardship Coordinator


	Agenda
	Item 1 - Draft Minutes
	Item 3 - Legislative Concepts
	Item 4 - Trust Property Report FY 18 & 19
	Item 5 - CSF Forest Lands Annual Report FY 19
	Item 6 - Aquatic Resource Management Sustainable Funding Status Report
	Item 7 - CFS Annual Financial Report FY 19
	Item 8 - Other



